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I. INTRODUCTION 

On December 20, 2021, the Commission determined to review in part the final initial 

determination (“ID”) of the presiding Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”), which issued on 

October 21, 2021.  The ID found no violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as 

amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, with respect to the asserted patents, U.S. Patent No. 10,091,186 

(“the ’186 patent”) and U.S. Patent No. 10,298,564 (“the ’564 patent”) (collectively, the 

“Asserted Patents”).   

On review, the Commission affirms the finding of no violation of section 337.  

Specifically, the Commission finds that the asserted claims of the ’186 and ’564 patents are not 

infringed and the domestic industry products do not practice the claims of the ’186 and ’564 

patents.  The Commission takes no position on various issues, including the economic prong of 

the domestic industry requirement, anticipation, obviousness, and whether the written description 

requirement is met for the claim terms “predetermined time” and “certificate,” among others.  

The Commission affirms the ID’s findings of patent eligibility of the asserted claims of the ’186 

and ’564 patents under 35 U.S.C. § 101 without further discussion.  This opinion sets forth the 

Commission’s reasoning in support of its determination.  All findings in the ID under review that 

are not inconsistent with this opinion are affirmed. 

I. BACKGROUND 

A. Procedural History 

 The Commission instituted the present investigation on October 22, 2020, based on a 

complaint and supplement thereto filed by Koninklijke Philips N.V. of Eindhoven, Netherlands 

and Philips North America LLC of Cambridge, Massachusetts (collectively, “Philips” or 

Complainants”).  85 Fed. Reg. 67373-74 (Oct. 22, 2020).  The complaint, as supplemented, 

alleged violations of section 337 based upon the importation, sale for importation, and sale in the 
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United States after importation of certain digital video-capable devices and components thereof 

by reason of infringement of certain claims of the ’186 patent, the ’564 patent, U.S. Patent No. 

9,436,809 (“the ’809 patent”), and U.S. Patent No. 9,590,977 (“the ’977 patent”).  Id. at 67373.  

The complaint further alleged that an industry in the United States exists.  Id.  The notice of 

investigation named the following respondents:  Dell Technologies Inc. of Round Rock, Texas 

and Dell Inc. of Round Rock, Texas (together “Dell”); Hisense Co. Ltd. of Qingdao, China, 

Hisense Visual Technology Co., Ltd. of Qingdao, China, Hisense Electronics Manufacturing 

Company of America Corporation of Suwanee, Georgia, Hisense USA Corporation of Suwanee, 

Georgia, Hisense Import & Export Co. Ltd. of Qingdao, China, Hisense International Co., Ltd. of 

Qingdao, China, Hisense International (HK) Co., Ltd. of Sheung Wan, Hong Kong (SAR), and 

Hisense International (Hong Kong) America Investment Co., Ltd. of Sheung Wan, Hong Kong 

(SAR) (together, “Hisense”); HP, Inc. of Palo Alto, California (“HP”); Lenovo Group Ltd. of 

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong (SAR) and Lenovo (United States), Inc. of Morrisville, North Carolina 

(together, “Lenovo”); LG Electronics, Inc. of Seoul, Republic of Korea and LG Electronics 

USA, Inc. of Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey (together, “LG”); TCL Industries Holdings Co., Ltd. 

of Guangdong, China, TCL Electronics Holdings Ltd. of Hong Kong Science Park, Hong Kong 

(SAR), TCL King Electrical Appliances (Huizhou) Co. Ltd. of Huizhou, China, TTE 

Technology, Inc. of Corona, California, TCL Moka International Ltd. of Sha Tin, Hong Kong, 

TCL Moka Manufacturing S.A. de C.V. of Tijuana, Mexico, TCL Smart Device (Vietnam) 

Company Ltd. of Binh Duong, Vietnam (together, “TCL”); MediaTek Inc. of Hsinchu, Taiwan 

and MediaTek USA Inc. of San Jose, California (together, “MediaTek”); Realtek Semiconductor 

Corp. of Hsinchu, Taiwan (“Realtek”); and Intel Corporation of Santa Clara, California (“Intel”).  



 

4 

Id. at 67374.  The Office of Unfair Import Investigations (“OUII”) was also named as a party to 

this investigation.  Id. 

During the course of the investigation, Philips moved to terminate the investigation as to 

various claims of the ’186 and ’564 patents, the ’809 and ’977 patents in their entirety, and 

respondents, including LG and MediaTek.  See Order No. 19, unreviewed by Comm’n Notice 

(Apr. 15, 2021), Order No. 21, unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (May 12, 2021), Order No. 26, 

unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (June 21, 2021), Order No. 32, unreviewed by Comm’n Notice 

(July 26, 2021), Order No. 40, unreviewed by Comm’n Notice (Aug. 2, 2021), and Order No. 46, 

unreviewed by Comm’n Not. (Aug. 10, 2021).  The respondents currently remaining in the 

investigation are Dell, Hisense, HP, Lenovo, TCL, Realtek, and Intel (collectively, 

“Respondents.”  Id. at 2.  The remaining asserted patent claims are:  claims 1, 9, 11, 12, and 14 

of the ’186 patent and claims 1, 18, 19, 21, and 25 of the ’564 patent.  Id. 

The ALJ held a technology tutorial and a Markman hearing on January 26-27, 2021.  On 

March 16, 2021, the ALJ issued Order No. 16, construing certain claim terms of the patents at 

issue (“Markman Order”).  The evidentiary hearing was held on July 19-23, 2021. 

On October 21, 2021, the ALJ issued the subject ID and his Recommended 

Determination on Remedy and Bond.  On November 2, 2021, Philips and OUII each filed 

petitions for review.1  Also on November 2, 2021, Respondents Intel, Dell, HP, and Lenovo 

(“Transmitter Respondents”) filed a joint contingent petition for review and Respondents HP, 

Realtek, Dell, Lenovo, Hisense, and TCL (“Receiver Respondents”) also filed a joint contingent 

 
1 Complainants Koninklijke Philips N.V. And Philips North America LLC’s Petition for Review 
of the Initial Determination (“CPet.”); and Petition of the Office Of Unfair Import Investigations 
for Review-In-Part of the Initial Determination on Violation of Section 337 (“OPet.”). 
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petition for review.2  On November 10, 2021, Philips, OUII, and the Respondents each filed 

replies.3 

On December 20, 2021, the Commission determined to review the ID in part.  

Specifically, the Commission determined to review the ID’s findings on claim construction, 

infringement, validity, and domestic industry for both of the ’186 and ’564 patents.  Notice (Dec. 

20, 2021), published at 86 Fed. Reg. 73316-18 (Dec. 27, 2021).  The Commission asked for 

briefing on certain issues under review and on remedy, bonding, and the public interest.  The 

parties filed their initial responses on January 7, 20224 and their replies on January 14, 2022.5  

 
2 Respondents Intel Corporation, Dell Technologies Inc., Dell Inc., HP, Inc., Lenovo Group Ltd. 
and Lenovo (United States), Inc.’s Contingent Petition for Review of the Initial Determination 
(“TRPet.”); and Respondents’ Contingent Petition for Review of Initial Determination on 
Violation of Section 337 (“RRPet.”). 

3 Philips N.V. and Philips North America LLC’s Reply to the Submissions By Respondents and 
Staff In Response to the Commission’s Request for Written Submissions on Issues Under 
Review, Remedy, Public Interest, and Bonding (“CPetRB”); Respondents’ Response to 
Complainants’ Written Submissions (“RPetRB”); and Reply Of The Office Of Unfair Import 
Investigations To The Written Submissions On The Issues Under Review And On Remedy, The 
Public Interest, And Bonding (“OPetRB”). 

4 Initial Written Submission of Complainants Koninklijke Philips N.V. and Philips North 
America LLC in Response to the Commission’s Request for Written Submissions on Issues 
Under Review, Remedy, Public Interest, and Bonding (“CCOB”);  Respondents’ Written 
Submissions (“RCOB”); and Response of the Office of Unfair Import Investigations to the 
Commission’s Request for Written Submissions on the Issues Under Review and on Remedy, the 
Public Interest, and Bonding (“OCOB”). 

5 Complainants Koninklijke Philips N.V. and Philips North America LLC’s Reply to the 
Submissions By Respondents and Staff In Response to the Commission’s Request for Written 
Submissions on Issues Under Review, Remedy, Public Interest, and Bonding (“CCRB”); 
Respondents’ Response to Complainants’ Written Submissions (“RCRB”); and Reply Of The 
Office Of Unfair Import Investigations To The Written Submissions On The Issues Under 
Review And On Remedy, The Public Interest, And Bonding (“OCRB”). 
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B. Products at Issue 

The products at issue include digital video-enabled transmitters and receivers, and 

components that are incorporated into those transmitters and receivers.  ID at 11. 

1. Accused Transmitter Products 

Phillips accuses the transmitter devices manufactured by Dell, Lenovo, and HP that 

include an Intel processor of infringing claims 1, 9, 11, 12, and 14 of the ’186 patent.  ID at 29-

30, 12-13.  Specifically, the Respondents’ transmitter products accused of infringing the ’186 

patent include Intel processor circuits that support HDCP 2+,6 as identified by Philips in CPX-

79C.  Id. at 12.  Intel  

.  Id.  The ID found that  

.  Id.  The ID further found that Philips does not accuse  

of infringement.  Id.  The ID reiterated that  falls within the scope of the investigation 

but is not accused of infringement, and thus does not infringe.  Id.  The Commission finds that 

the ALJ’s finding is supported by Philips’ admission that  does not infringe and 

therefore affirms the ALJ’s finding that  does not infringe.  See RX-1541C.5; Tr. 

(Mangione-Smith) at 291:20-292:3.  The  was in dispute before the ALJ, and is 

addressed below. 

Dell lists its additional accused products in Exhibit JX-10C; HP lists its accused products 

in Exhibit CX-253C; Lenovo states that Exhibit JX-11C lists its accused products but not all of 

them support HDCP 2+.  Id. at 12-13.  The ID also determined that the evidence showed that all 

Intel NUC “Mini-PC” products listed in Exhibit CPX-79C support HDCP 2+ over wired 

 
6 HDCP 2+ protocol refers to the “High-bandwidth Digital Content Protection System” for 
protecting digital content from unauthorized distribution (Version 2 or higher). CX-0233; see 
also Tr. (Mangione-Smith) at 123:18-124:21 (describing HDCP 2+ protocol) and 130:10-131:24. 
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interfaces.  Id. at 13.  We refer to the accused products as the “Accused Transmitter Products” 

with the exception of the , which we will expressly identify when 

discussed herein.  

2. Domestic Industry Transmitter Products 

Philips asserts that its licensee Roku, Inc. (“Roku”) practices certain claims of the ’186 

patent with Roku streaming players that support HDCP 2+ over HDMI.  Id. at 11-12.  These 

products include a System-on-Chip (“SoC”) that is manufactured or supplied by MediaTek or 

Realtek.  Id. at 12.  These products are collectively referred to as the “DI Transmitter Products.” 

3. Accused Receiver Products 

The receiver products accused of infringing claims 1, 18, 19, 21, and 25 of the ’564 

patent employ certain semiconductor chips manufactured or supplied (i) by MediaTek and 

incorporated into certain products (i.e., television products and monitor products) sold by Dell, 

Hisense, HP, and TCL (collectively, “the MediaTek Accused Receiver Products”); and (ii) by 

Realtek and incorporated into certain products (i.e., television products and monitor products) 

sold by Dell, , HP, Lenovo, and TCL (collectively, “the Realtek Accused Receiver 

Products”).  Id. at 13, 55.  We refer to all of these products generally as the “Accused Receiver 

Products.” 

4. Domestic Industry Receiver Products 

The ID found that the Roku products identified in CX-2031C support HDCP 2+ and are 

alleged to practice the ’564 patent.  Id. at 13.  The ID also determined that Samsung’s televisions 

identified in CX-2031C are HDCP 2+ receivers and are alleged to practice the ’564 patent.  Id.  

These are collectively referred to as the “DI Receiver Products.” 
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C. Patents at Issue 

The patents at issue both claim priority to the same patent application and share a 

common specification.  Id. at 6.  The ID primarily cited to the ’186 patent specification, and for 

consistency, we do the same.   

1. U.S. Patent No. 10,091,186  

The ’186 patent was filed on November 16, 2016, issued on October 2, 2018, and is 

entitled “Secure Authenticated Distance Measurement.”  The ’186 patent is assigned on its face 

to Koninklijke Philips N.V.  JX-2 (’186 patent) at cover page.  The ’186 patent generally relates 

to a “method for a first communication device to [perform] authenticated distance measurement 

between a first communication device and a second communication device . . . [for] determining 

whether data stored on a first communication device is to be accessed by a second 

communication device.”  Id. at 1:31-37.  The claims of the ’186 patent relate mainly to the first 

communication (i.e., transmitter) device. 

2. U.S. Patent No. 10,298,564 

The ’564 patent issued on May 21, 2019 from an application filed on August 30, 2018 

(the application is a continuation of the application resulting in the ’186 patent).  JX-3 (’564 

patent) at cover page.  The ’564 patent is entitled “Secure Authenticated Distance 

Measurement,” and is assigned on its face to Koninklijke Philips N.V.  Id.  The ’564 patent 

relates to a “method for a first communication device to [perform] authenticated distance 

measurement between a first communication device and a second communication device . . . 

[for] determining whether data stored on a first communication device is to be accessed by a 
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by its customers.  Id. at 30.  The Commission discusses direct infringement of the asserted claims 

in more detail below.  The Commission affirms the ID’s determination on doctrine of equivalents 

and indirect infringement for the reasons explained in the ID.  Id. at 51-55. 

Claim 1 is the only independent claim asserted and it is reproduced below with the 

disputed elements in bold.  The ID annotated claim 1 with identifiers for ease in discussing the 

elements of independent claim 1, as follows:8 

1[pre] A first device for controlling delivery of protected content to a second device, 

1[a] the first device comprising a processor circuit, the processor circuit arranged to 
execute instructions, the instructions arranged to: 

1[b] receive a second device certificate from the second device prior to sending a first 
signal; 

1[c] provide the first signal to the second device when the second device certificate 
indicates that the second device is compliant with at least one compliance rule; 

1[d] receive a second signal from the second device after providing the first signal; and 

1[e] provide the protected content to the second device when the second signal is 
derived from a secret and a time between the providing of the first signal and the 
receiving of the second signal is less than a predetermined time, 

1[f] wherein the secret is known by the first device. 

Id. at 30.  Claims 9, 11, 12, and 14 are dependent and are reproduced below: 

9. The first device of claim 1, wherein determining that the second signal is derived from 
the secret comprises: modifying the first signal, wherein the modifying requires the 
secret; and determining that the modified first signal is identical to the second signal. 
 
11. The first device of claim 1, further comprising instructions arranged to provide the 
secret to the second device. 
 
12. The first device of claim 1, wherein the second signal comprises the first signal 
modified by the secret. 
 
14. The first device of claim 1 wherein the secret is encrypted with a public key. 

 
8 We will also use these same identifiers in our discussion herein. 
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JX-2 at 7:44-49, 7:53-56, 7:59-60.  

1. Claim 1 

The ID found that elements 1[pre] – [d] and 1[f] were met for all Accused Transmitter 

Products, including the .  Id. at 30-36, 48-49.  However, the ID found that 

element 1[e] was met by the , but was not met by the Accused Transmitter 

Products.  Id. at 36-48.  The Commission affirms the ID’s determinations that elements 1[pre] –

[b], 1[d], and 1[f] are met by the Accused Transmitter Products and the  as 

explained in the ID.  Accordingly, we only address elements 1[c] and 1[e] that are currently in 

dispute.   

a. Claim 1 Element 1[c]: “provide the first signal to the second 
device when the second device certificate indicates that the 
second device is compliant with at least one compliance rule” 

i. The ID 

The ID noted that the parties’ dispute focuses on whether and how the “certificate”9 

“indicates that the second device is compliant with at least one compliance rule.”  Id. at 33.  The 

ID explained, when discussing element 1[b], that each certificate includes a Receiver ID, 

Receiver Public Key, and DCP, LLC Signature.  Id. at 32-33.  According to the ID, “Philips 

asserts that all Accused Transmitter Products practice the ‘indicates’ portion of this element 

because each product includes a processor circuit arranged to verify two things: that a certificate 

is received in response to an AKE_Init message from the transmitter, and that the certificate is 

signed by DCP LLC, the trust and licensing authority for the HDCP 2+ content protection 

regime.”  Id. at 33.  These two requirements are Philips’ two alleged compliance rules. 

 
9 The accused certificates are Digital Content Protection, LLC’s (“DCP’s” or “DCP, LLC’s”) 
Public Key Certificates.  DCP, LLC is the trust and licensing authority for the HDCP 2+ content 
protection regime. 
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With respect to Philips’ first compliance rule (i.e., “that a certificate is received in 

response to an AKE_Init message from the transmitter”), the ID explained that the parties 

disagree on how the “certificate” indicates that the second device is compliant with at least one 

compliance rule.  Id.  The ID found that, while the transmission of the certificate in response to 

the first device’s interrogation indicates that the second device is prepared to participate in the 

HDCP 2+ protocol, it is the transmission that gives the indication that the device is prepared to 

participate (i.e., that a compliance rule has been met), not the certificate and the information 

contained therein.  Id.  The ID determined that because the certificate has already been 

transmitted in accordance with element 1[b], a compliance rule that duplicates claim element 

1[b] (requiring “receive a second device certificate from the second device prior to sending a 

first signal”) cannot meet the additional requirements of element 1[c], which requires that the 

certificate “indicates that the second device is compliant with at least one compliance rule.”  Id.  

In addition, the ID found that the first proposed compliance rule does not match Philips’ expert’s 

testimony.  Id. at 33-34.  The ID explained that Philips argued that the compliance rule is that 

“the receiver must provide the certificate to the transmitter in response to the AKE_Init 

message,” while Dr. Mangione-Smith testified that the compliance rule is “when the AKE_Init 

message is sent, only after that the receiver has to respond within 100 milliseconds [with] the 

signed certificate.”  Id.  Therefore, the ID concluded that Philips’ argument as to the first 

proposed compliance rule does not “conform to the evidence.”  Id. at 34. 

With respect to Philips’ second compliance rule (i.e., “the certificate must be signed by 

the trust and licensing authority for the HDCP 2+ content protection regime, namely, DCP, 

LLC”), the ID explained that DCP’s signature, which is part of the received certificate, is not 

limited to “certification authority” for the purpose of guarding against forgery because “‘other 
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meaning’ is attached to DCP’s specific signature.”  Id.  The ID noted that it is undisputed that 

“DCP issues Public Key Certificates to any adopter that has signed the HDCP License and paid 

for device key sets.”  Id.  The ID explained that “a DCP-signed certificate contains the ‘Unique 

RSA public key of [the] HDCP Receiver’” and thereby, “a signature by DCP, LLC on the 

certificate indicates, at minimum, that the receiver uses a public key issued by DCP, which is 

only issued when the ‘adopter’ associated with the receiver has been licensed by DCP.”  Id.   

 The ID rejected OUII’s and Respondents’ contention that the certificates signed by DCP 

“are entirely unrelated to any device’s compliance (or lack thereof) with the HDCP compliance 

Rules.”  Id. at 35.  The ID explained that the definition of the “certificate,” as agreed to by the 

parties, is “information containing at least the entity’s distinguishing identifier and public key . . 

..”  Id. (citing Markman Order at 18 (emphasis in ID)).  Here, the ID concluded that the 

certificates are more precise because they include the “Unique RSA public key of [the] HDCP 

Receiver.”  Id.  The ID found that Respondents’ argument that “[n]one of the fields of the DCP’s 

Public Key Certificates includes information about any particular device,” and Dr. Jeffay’s 

testimony to the same effect, are not consistent with “the undisputed facts.”  Id.  The ID asserted 

that even taking as true Respondents’ argument “that a DCP-signed certificate does not 

guarantee that the associated device actually complies with the HDCP compliance rules recited 

in the HDCP License, such a certificate still ‘indicates’ that the receiver is compliant with at least 

one compliance rule.”  Id.  The ID explained that the plain and ordinary meaning of “indicates” 

only requires an indication of compliance, not complete certainty.  Id.  The ID reasoned that the 

“HDCP 2+ protocol requires a certificate signed by DCP, LLC, rather than some other certifying 

authority, to ‘indicate[]’ that the receiver is reasonably likely to have a DCP-issued public key 

and an associated adopter licensed by DCP (which, in turn, indicates that the receiver is 
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reasonably likely to comply with the HDCP compliance rules).”  Id.  The ID found that “if the 

certificate is not signed by DCP, LLC, the ‘HDCP Transmitter aborts the protocol,’ because in 

that case the certificate does not ‘indicate[]’ that the receiver complies with at least one 

compliance rule.”  Id.  The ID concluded that this satisfies the claim language and element 1[c] 

is met by the Accused Transmitter Products and the .  Id. at 36. 

ii. Analysis 

The Commission has determined to reverse the ID’s findings that this limitation is met by 

the Accused Transmitter Products, as well as the .     

The Transmitter Respondents petitioned for review of the infringement findings as to this 

element, arguing that the ID erroneously determined that the Accused Transmitter Products meet 

element 1[c].  TRPet. at 17-28.  The Transmitter Respondents argued that the claims require that 

the claimed “compliance rule” reflect behavior of a device, but the Public Key Certificate does 

not do so.  Specifically, the Accused Transmitter Products use  

.  Id. at 17-

21.  The Transmitter Respondents explain that DCP issues Public Key Certificates to adopters 

that sign the HDCP License Agreement and .10  Id. at 19.   

 

.  Id.  The Transmitter Respondents further argue that the ID improperly 

interpreted “compliance rule” as unrelated to device behavior.  Id. at 21-25.  

OUII also petitioned for review of the ID’s findings regarding this limitation.  OPet. at 4-

12.  OUII asserts that the ID’s findings on infringement for this element (as well as element 1[c] 

 
10 The HDCP License Agreement defines the “Compliance Rules” in Exhibit C.  Exhibit C 
defines the requirements for device behavior with respect to handling protected content.   
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of the ’564 patent) and the technical prong of the domestic industry requirement are inconsistent 

with the ID’s finding regarding the same claim elements on invalidity.  Id. at 4-5.  OUII further 

argues that the amendments made during the prosecution of the ’186 patent support finding that a 

clear and unmistakable disclaimer was made by the patentee with respect to compliance based on 

“certificate validity.”  Id. at 10-12.  Specifically, OUII explains that the claims were amended to 

require that the second device be compliant with at least one compliance rule, and thus this 

provides a second basis for reviewing the ID.  Id.   

Philips also contingently petitioned for review of this limitation.  CPet. at 90-94.  

Specifically, if the Commission determined to review the ID’s findings for this element, Philips 

asks that the Commission review and reverse the ID to find that the Accused Transmitter 

Products and the DI Transmitter Products satisfy element 1[c] through the first alleged 

compliance rule.  Id.   

The Commission determined to review the ID’s findings for claim 1 and asked the parties 

to brief the following question: 

(1) Please discuss whether the evidence establishes that the claimed “certificate” 
of the accused products and domestic industry products indicates that the 
second device is compliant with at least one compliance rule. In your 
discussion, please address the specific compliance rule(s) at issue and 
specifically how the certificate indicates that the second device is compliant 
with the compliance rule(s). Please address the evidence in the contexts of 
both the ’186 and ’564 patents. 

86 Fed. Reg. at 73316-17.   

One of the main purposes of the ’186 patent is reducing the heightened risks of 

“unauthorized copying and pirating” faced by digital media content providers.  JX-2 at 1:51-54.  

To address these concerns, the patent requires a “compliance” condition for devices wishing to 

receive protected content such that content is only sent to a receiver device if that receiver is first 

shown to be a “compliant device.”  Id. at 2:1-5 (“One way of protecting content in the form of 
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digital data is to ensure that content will only be transferred between devices if the receiving 

device has been authenticated as being a compliant device[.]”).  A device is “compliant” if it 

follows a “set of predefined compliance rules.”  Id. at 3:45-48.  Testing a device to make sure it 

behaves consistently with predefined compliance rules reduces the risk that it will act in an 

unauthorized way, by copying, pirating, or illegally capturing digital content.  See id. at 1:51-54, 

2:9-11.  

The patent describes this process as “a secure way of performing the sharing of the secret, 

ensuring that only devices being compliant with compliance rules can receive the secret.”  Id. at 

3:52-54 (emphasis added).  The claims recite a device “compliance rule” requirement and 

specify that a device’s compliance be indicated by a certificate.  Id. at cl. 1 (stating that “the 

second device certificate indicates that the second device is compliant with at least one 

compliance rule”).  As the Transmitter Respondents explain in their petition, the language of 

element 1[c] requires a “compliance rule” to indicate something about the receiver device:  “the 

second device certificate indicates that the second device is compliant with at least one 

compliance rule.”  Id. (emphasis added).  

The parties did not dispute the meaning of the term “compliance rule” during the 

Markman proceedings, and consistent with the inventor’s usage of that term, the ID recognized 

that a “compliance rule” is “a ‘certain’ rule for managing copyrighted content.”  See ID at 102 

(addressing validity).  The parties also agreed that the claim term “certificate” should be 

construed to mean “information containing at least the entity’s distinguishing identifier and 

public key, and signed by a certification authority to guard against forgery,” which was adopted 

in the Markman Order and was recognized in the ID.  Markman Order at 18; ID at 32-33. 
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With respect to infringement, Philips argued before the ALJ that there are two possible 

compliance rules that meet the limitation of element 1[c].  According to Philips, the first 

“compliance rule” is that a receiver provides a certificate in response to receiving a message 

from a transmitter (i.e., the AKE_Init message), and the second “compliance rule” is that the 

Public Key Certificate includes DCP’s digital signature.  While the ID rejected the first 

argument, it relied on the contractual status, the HDCP+ protocol, and the signed DCP certificate 

together to find that the second compliance rule met this limitation.  ID at 34-36.     

 As to the first “compliance rule,” which Philips raises in its contingent petition, Philips 

identifies a first alleged “compliance rule” as the receiver provides a certificate in response to the 

AKE_Init signal.  ID at 33; CCOP at 9-16.  While the certificate is sent in response to the 

“AKE_Init” message, the Commission finds that this certificate does not “indicate[] that the 

second device is compliant with at least one compliance rule,” as required by the claim language 

of element 1[c].  Both OUII and Respondents explain why this is so in response to the 

Commission’s request for briefing.  OCOB at 9-12; RCOB at 11-12.   

Specifically, none of the fields in the certificate indicate implementation details of a 

receiver device, such as how or why it decides to provide a certificate to a transmitter device: 

“ ” at all.  RX-

1241C ( ) at Q/A 36; RX-1240C ( ) at Q/A 17  

).  The Public Key Certificates, issued 

by DCP LLC to manufacturers and used here by the Respondents, include a public key, an ID 

number, and a digital signature.  As illustrated below, nothing in the certificates indicates 

whether the receiver will be, or currently is, in compliance with a compliance rule:  
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CX-0233, Table 2.1; see also RX-1241C ( ) at Q/A 31; ID at 32-33.  This chart shows 

that the Transmitter Products’ “certificate” includes (i) “Receiver ID,” which is a “[u]nique 

receiver identifier”; (ii) “Receiver Public Key,” which is a “[u]nique RSA public key”; and 

(iii) “DCP LLC Signature,” which is a “cryptographic signature.”  CX-0233, Table 2.1.  

Moreover, , and  

, both testified that  

 

.  See RX-1240C ( ) at Q/A 13-14, 30-31; RX-

1241C ) at Q/A 54-56.   

The Respondents argue that the specification and prosecution history confirm that a 

“compliance rule” must relate to the second device, not just to a certificate, and that this rebuts 

Complainant’s infringement argument that the Accused Transmitter Products meet the first 

asserted compliance rule.  RCOB at 3-6; see also id. at 11-12.  During the prosecution of the 

patents to which the Asserted Patents claim priority, the patentee amended the claims to require 

using certificates to determine device compliance.  RX-98.0361-62; RX-94.0749; RX-97.0009-

10; RX-93.0008-9; JX-1.0009; CX-733.0011.  During prosecution of the ’186 patent, the 
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examiner rejected the original claims that did not include the certificate element.  JX-5.0041 

(original claim 1).  While Philips attempted to obtain claims where only the certificate was 

required to be compliant, the examiner found that this was taught by the prior art.  JX-5.1008, 

1013.  Thereafter, Philips amended its claim to require providing the first signal “when the 

second device certificate indicates that the second device is compliant with at least one 

compliance rule.”  JX-5.0304, .0310, .1013.  Therefore, this prosecution history confirms that the 

claims specifically require that the compliance rule must relate to the device, not just the 

certificate.  See RCOB at 5-6.  The Commission finds, however, that Philips cites no evidence to 

prove that the DCP certificate sent in response to the transmitter’s AKE_Init signal contains or 

provides any indication as to whether the receiver (second device) will be, or currently is, in 

compliance with a compliance rule. 

Moreover, if this first alleged compliance rule were to meet element 1[c], it would render 

element 1[b] superfluous as the ID found.  ID at 33.  Claim element 1[b] requires that the first 

device “receive a second device certificate from the second device prior to sending a first 

signal.”  JX-2 at 7:9-10.  Claim element 1[c] then recites “provide the first signal to the second 

device when the second device certificate indicates that the second device is compliant with at 

least one compliance rule.”  Id. at 7:11-15.  Philips argues that sending the certificate in response 

to the AKE_Int signal meets element 1[c] and does not render this limitation superfluous.  CCOB 

at 14-15.  Philips specifically argues “the HDCP 2+ official requirement that the certificate must 

be provided by the receiver, and received by the transmitter, in response to the transmitter’s 

AKE_Init signal places a meaningful additional requirement on when the receiver must provide 

its certificate, is not merely duplicative of claim element 1(b).”  Id. at 14 (emphasis in original).  
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The claims of the related ’977 patent11 are informative on this point and show that Philips’ 

reading of the claim language to support its infringement argument is flawed.  Claim 1 of the 

’977 patent recites, inter alia, “[a] receiving device comprising: means for providing a certificate 

identifying said receiving device” and dependent claim 2 of the ’977 patent recites “[t]he 

receiving device of claim 1, wherein said providing said certificate is responsive to a request.”  

OCRB at 4 (citing Markman Order at 13).  OUII argues, after outlining the claim language of the 

’977 patent: 

Thus, the additional requirement of providing the claimed “certificate” 
“responsive to a request” in dependent claim 2 of the ‘977 patent makes clear that 
the additional requirement is not related to the “compliance rules” recited in 
independent claim 1 of the ‘977 patent (i.e., “means for receiving a first signal 
from a first device after the first device determines, based on information obtained 
from the certificate, that the receiving device is compliant with a set of 
compliance rules”). Id. And, just as providing the claimed “certificate” 
“responsive to a request” does not concern any “compliance rule” in the ’977 
patent, providing the claimed “certificate” responsive to a request or, rather, “a 
signal” as alleged by Complainants, does not concern any “compliance rule” in 
the ’186 patent or the ’564 patent. As a general matter, where, as here, the patents 
share a common specification, the same term appearing in the patents should have 
the same meaning. 
 

Id.  The Commission agrees with OUII’s analysis.  Accordingly, the Commission finds, as the ID 

did, that Philips has failed to prove that the Accused Transmitter Products satisfy claim element 

1[c] based on Philips’ first alleged compliance rule .   

Turning to the second alleged compliance rule, the Commission finds that this 

compliance rule (DCP digital signature) does not meet element 1[c].  As discussed above, the 

Public Key Certificates, issued by DCP, LLC to manufacturers, include a public key, an ID 

number, and a digital signature.  However, nothing in the Public Key Certificates indicates 

 
11 The ’977 patent was originally asserted in this investigation and was construed, along with the 
remaining patents, during the Markman proceeding.  The ’977 patent was later withdrawn from 
the investigation. 
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whether the receiver will or will not obey the Compliance Rules in Exhibit C or is indeed 

complying with the Compliance Rules.  The digital signature, “DCP LLC Signature,” is a 

“cryptographic signature.”  CX-0233, Table 2.1.  This DCP signed certificate is simply a 

conventional certificate containing a public key that does not indicate that the “second device” is 

compliant with any “compliance rule.”  This is supported by the evidence, including testimony 

from .  See RX-1241C ( ) at Q/A 30, 31, 

36, 37, 53, 54, 56 (“  

); see also RX-1240C 

(Balogh) at Q/A 13, 14, 30, 31; Tr. (Jeffay) at 585:7-586:3, 586:15-587:7, 589:12-591:21.   

Philips argues that the HDCP 2+ specification describes the compliance rules as “official 

requirements” of the HDCP 2+ specification.  CCOB at 9-13.  However, the HDCP 2+ 

specification document does not establish that the Accused Transmitter Products operate such 

that the “second device” is compliant with a compliance rule set forth in that HDCP 2+ 

specification document.   

 

.  RX-1240C ( ) at Q/A 16-17; RX-1241C 

( ) at Q/A 58-60; Tr. ( ) at 539:24-540:13.   

It appears that Philips is arguing that the Commission should rely on the HDCP 2+ 

specification to find that this limitation is met.  CCOB at 9-13.  However, absent evidence that 

the Accused Products actually operate in accordance with the HDCP 2+ specification, there is no 

basis for the Commission to conclude that the HDCP2+ specification satisfies the compliance 

rules required by the claim language.  The DCP signature only provides information about the 

certificate and its issuer, DCP, but does not say anything about actual device operation.  For this 



 

22 

reason, Philips’ argument, CCOB at 10, that the “compliance rule” should be construed as the 

“official requirements” does not establish or relate to whether or not the Accused Transmitter 

Products comply with a “compliance rules.”   

Similarly, Philips’ argument that the HDCP 2+ specification requires receivers to provide 

a certificate with a signature from DCP, not merely “any valid certificate, at any time, from any 

certification authority” is not persuasive.  CCOB at 6 (emphasis original).  The fact that the 

HDCP 2+ specification requires a signed DCP signature does not change the fact that the 

certificate does not establish a device’s compliance with a compliance rule, as required by the 

claims.  We agree with Respondents, that while portions of the written HDCP 2+ specifications 

describe device behavior; others, like the definition of certificate format, do not and cannot 

qualify as a “compliance rule.”    

Philips appears to rely on the HDCP 2+ specifications to establish that a product 

implements a step in the manner described but fails to show the Accused Transmitter Products 

operating to execute a compliance rule.  RCRB at 4-5; Tr. (Jeffay) at 578:20-579:11; see also ID 

at 65.  Moreover,  

 

.  RX-1241C ( ) at Q/A 62  

 

).   

Finally, the prosecution history of the ’186 patent establishes that merely receiving a 

valid certificate is insufficient to meet claim element 1[c].  As mentioned above, during 

prosecution of the ’186 patent, Philips first presented to the PTO claims that only required a 

certificate, and did not require a device’s compliance with a compliance rule.  The claims were 
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amended during prosecution, to overcome a rejection, to require the compliance with a 

compliance rule.  JX-5.285, .304, .310; see also Tr. (Jeffay) at 566:19-578:2.  Based on this 

disclaimer, a signed certificate that does not indicate compliance with a compliance rule fails to 

satisfy this claim limitation.  Accordingly, the Commission finds that the second alleged 

compliance rule also does not meet this claim element. 

We note that while Philips relies on the signed certificate as the second compliance rule 

to meet this limitation, the ID relied on the DCP-signed certificate (second compliance rule) in 

conjunction with the “other meaning” that attaches to the DCP specific signature.  ID at 34.  The 

Commission finds that the “other meaning” in conjunction with the signed certificate also does 

not meet this claim element.  ID at 34. 

The ID concluded that “a signature by DCP, LLC on the certificate indicates, at 

minimum, that the receiver uses a public key issued by DCP, which is only issued when the 

‘adopter’ associated with the receiver has been licensed by DCP” and that “[t]he HDCP 2+ 

protocol requires a certificate signed by DCP, LLC, rather than some other certifying authority, 

to ‘indicate[]’ that the receiver is reasonably likely to have a DCP-issued public key and an 

associated adopter licensed by DCP (which, in turn, indicates that the receiver is reasonably 

likely to comply with the HDCP compliance rules).”  ID at 34-35 (emphasis added).  However, 

testimony from Dr. Jeffay explains that  

 

.  See Tr. (Jeffay) at 585:7-586:3, 

586:15-587:7; see also Tr. (Mangione-Smith) at 438:24-439:9; Tr. (Jeffay) at 693:6-694:1.  

Accordingly, as explained above, while a DCP signature specifically identifies DCP, LLC as the 

certification authority for the certificate,  
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.  See Tr. (Jeffay) at 589:12-591:21; Tr. (Jeffay) at 592:20-593:5; 

RX-1241C ( ) at Q/A 59; RX-1240C ( ) at Q/A 18. 

The ID stated, as noted above, that a signed certificate “in turn, indicates that the receiver 

is reasonably likely to comply with the HDCP compliance rules,” and that this was “sufficient to 

satisfy the claim language.”  Id. at 35 (emphasis added).  The claim language requires that the 

“certificate” indicate the second device is compliant with at least one compliance rule.  JX-2 at 

cl. 1.  The ID relied on the public key but did not explain how the public key relates to whether 

the second device is actually compliant with a compliance rule.  ID at 35.  The ID cited to no 

evidence from the certificate that the receiver device actually complies with specific compliance 

rules relating to the second device or whether an associated adopter is licensed.  Even if the 

adopter is licensed, the ID provides no evidence that the certificate purports to indicate that said 

adopter’s devices comply with any of the listed compliance rules.  Moreover, the record evidence 

establishes that a  

.  Tr. ( ) at 538:13-539:11; Tr. (Jeffay) 594:4-8 

 

), 606:22-609:13; RX-1240C ( ) 

at Q/A 22; RX-1241C ( ) at Q/A 61 (“  

.”).   

 

  JX-36C ( ) at 227:9-15.   

 

.  RX-1241C ( ) at Q/A 59-60; RX-1240C ( ) at Q/A 16 

(“  
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.”).   

. Tr. (Jeffay) at 592:20-593:5; RX-1241C 

( ) at Q/A 59 (“  

.”); RX- 

1240C ( ) at Q/A 18, 29-31.   

.”  RX-1240C ( ) at Q/A 19; Tr. 

(Balogh) at 538:13-22.  Respondents assert that  

.  RCOB at 9-

10.  Respondents explain: 

Dr. Jeffay observed  
 

 
. Tr. (Jeffay) at 606:22-609:13.  

 
 

 
 RX-1240C ( ) at Q/A 32; Tr. (Jeffay) at 609:3-13. Even 

Philips’ technical expert admitted  
 

 Tr. (Mangione-Smith) at 330:14-18. 
 

Id. at 10.  Respondents, therefore, contend that  

.  The Commission finds this 

reasoning and the corresponding evidence persuasive.  Therefore, the Commission finds that 

element 1[c] is not met by the Accused Transmitter Products, including the .    
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b. Claim 1 Element 1[e]: “provide the protected content to the 
second device when the second signal is derived from a secret 
and a time between the providing of the first signal and the 
receiving of the second signal is less than a predetermined 
time” 

i. The ID 

The ID split its discussion of this element into two separate parts.  The ID begins with the 

limitation that states “provide the protected content to the second device when the second signal 

is derived from a secret.”  ID at 36.  The ID concluded that the Accused Transmitter Products, 

including the , meet this limitation “because each product implements 

functionality of the HDCP 2+ specification.”  Id.  The ID explained that the HDCP 2+ 

specification requires that a processor circuit “include[] instructions to implement an SKE stage 

after successful completion of the AKE and LC stages.”  Id.  The ID found that “[i]n the SKE 

stage, the first and second devices establish an encrypted session wherein the first device can 

provide the content, protected by the encryption, to the second device” and the “processor 

circuit” “includes instructions arranged to determine whether the second signal L’ is derived 

from a secret, i.e., km as a condition precent to providing the content to the second device.”  Id. at 

36-37.  The ID determined: 

During the AKE stage, the Accused Transmitter Products (1) generate the secret 
km (at least in one embodiment), (2) store the secret km as corresponding to the 
receiver’s Receiver ID identifier, and (3) use the secret km to derive another key, 
kd. See CX- 233.11-.16; see also JX-0034C ( .) at 125:9-13 (  

). The second signal, L’, is then 
generated by the second device using kd. See CX-0233.17 and Fig. 2.4. The first 
device, in parallel, calculates a third signal, L, based on the same formula as L’ 
(i.e., likewise derived from secret km), and upon receipt of L’ confirms that L = 
L’. Id. at .16-.17. Both L and L’ are derived from km because L and L’ are derived 
from kd, which in turn is derived from km, and if L does not equal L’, the LC stage 
(and thus the protocol) fails. Id. No party disputes that the Accused Transmitter 
Products perform this process.  

 
Id. at 37. 
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Turning to the second part of this element, which states “a time between the providing of 

the first signal and the receiving of the second signal is less than a predetermined time,” the ID 

noted that this limitation is in dispute.  Id.  The ID explained: 

Philips, citing the HDCP 2.2 over HDMI protocol (CX-0233), asserts that “each 
Transmitter Product includes instructions arranged to determine whether a time 
between the providing the first signal, i.e., rn, and the receiving of the second 
signal, i.e., L’, is less than a predetermined time.” . . . Philips submits that “each 
of the Transmitter Products implements a round trip time (‘RTT’) check [that is a] 
required aspect of the HDCP 2+ protocol: 
 
 

 
 
CX-0233.17 (annotated). The description accompanying this figure is specific: the 
“message [containing L’] must be received by the transmitter within 20 ms from 
the time the transmitter finishes writing the LC_Init message parameters to the 
HDCP Receiver.” CX-0233.16. The transmitter “aborts the authentication 
protocol” if “the watchdog timer expires before the last byte of [the message 
containing L’] is received by the transmitter.” Id. 
 

Id. at 37-38. 

 The ID found, however,  

.  Id. at 38.  The ID first addressed the Accused Transmitter Products 
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 The ID found unpersuasive Philips’ argument that its expert’s test results establish that 

the Accused Transmitter products function without delay.  Id.  Specifically, the ID found that the 

tests conducted by Philips’ expert did not measure the alleged predetermined time periods (e.g., 

20 ms timeout (for HDMI) or 16ms timeout (for DisplayPort)), but measured the time between 

the receipt of an LC_Init message from the Transmitter Product and receipt of a new AKE_Init 

message from the Transmitter Product such that the analyzer did not demonstrate that the 

.  Id. at 44.  The 

ID concluded .  Id.  The ID 

similarly addressed various other arguments Philips presented.  Id. at 43-45.  The ID concluded 

that the  products (Accused Transmitter Products) do not meet this 

claim element literally.  Id. at 45. 

 Turning to the , however, the ID found that this claim element is met.  

Id. at 45-48.  The ID explained that the  

 

.  Id. at 45.   

 

.  Id.  The ID explained that “as Dr. Mangione-Smith 

testified, and as shown in the slide he prepared, ‘  

 

’”  Id.  The ID found that  

 

”  Id. at 46.  The ID noted that  

 



 

30 

 

.  Id.  

 In response to Respondents’ argument that the claim language requires a measurement 

and a comparison to a predetermined time, the ID found that the term is afforded its plain and 

ordinary meaning with no required purpose or selection criteria.  Id.  The ID explained that any 

orders that issued after the Markman Order may have used terms like “measured,” “threshold,” 

“difference,” and “comparison,” but noted that these terms do not appear in the claims and were 

not part of any formal construction.  Id. at 46-47. 

The ID asserted that Respondents’ reliance on Order No. 28 is misplaced because it did 

not focus on the time difference but instead addressed whether “predetermined time” has 

adequate written description support.  Id. at 47.  The ID noted that Order No. 28 stated that 

“‘predetermined time’ has been construed such that ‘any determination as to whether the relevant 

time difference is less than a predetermined time satisfies this particular claim limitation.’”  Id.  

The ID further noted that at least one order that issued after the Markman Order suggested that a 

watchdog timer “seemingly meets the requirements” of the claim and noted that a watchdog 

timer does not measure time differences.  Id.  The ID found that while the specification only 

recites examples of “measuring times,” the specification suggests that measuring the time is only 

one possible embodiment.  Id. at 48.  The ID determined that it was significant that neither the 

term “measurement,” nor any variation of it, is found in the claim language.  Id.  The ID 

concluded: 

So the plain and ordinary meaning of “when . . . a time between the providing of 
the first signal and the receiving of the second signal is less than a predetermined 
time” is exactly what the language denotes: “any determination as to whether the 
relevant time difference is less than a predetermined time satisfies this particular 
claim limitation,” even when the time difference is not expressly measured. 
Markman Order at 23. That is precisely what a watchdog timer does,  
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. See Tr. (Jeffay) at 617:6-618:11. 
Therefore, the  satisfy element 1[e]. 

 
Id.  Therefore, the ID determined that the  meet this claim element, but the 

Accused Transmitter Products do not. 

ii. Analysis 

The Commission determined to review this limitation.  86 Fed. Reg. at 73316.  The 

Transmitter Respondents, OUII, and Philips all agreed that the ID’s findings for the Accused 

Transmitter Products and the  were inconsistent and required review.  The 

Commission did not ask for briefing directly related to this claim limitation.   

Phillips asserts that the ID correctly determined that the  

infringe all asserted claims of the ’186 patent.  CPet. at 12.  However, Philips argues that the ID 

improperly concluded that element 1[e] is not met by the Accused Transmitter Products.  Philips 

asserts that the ID inconsistently applied the same claim language when considering the two 

different groups of products, along with the DI Transmitter Products.  Id. at 11-21.  Philips 

further argues that the ID erred in reading “a time between” to mean “the time between” and 

required the transmitter to capture the precise time when the transmitter sends the first signal.  Id. 

at 25-40.  Philips specifically asserts: 

The recited phrase “a time between …” in claim 1 of each of the Asserted Patents 
self-evidently allows discretion in the manner in which a transmitter performs the 
claimed time determination, including the transmitter’s selection of “a” time 
interval to assess for the determination. The word “a” is, by definition, a non-
specific article and carries different meaning than the definite article “the.” 
Indeed, these are different embodiments in the Asserted Patents’ shared 
specification, and it is legally improper to exclude either such embodiment from 
the scope of the claims. C.R. Bard, Inc. v. United States Surgical Corp., 388 F.3d 
858, 865 (Fed. Cir. 2004) (“Under our precedent … a construction that excludes a 
preferred embodiment ‘is rarely, if ever, correct’”) (citations omitted). For 
example, the specification expressly discloses one embodiment for which a 
transmitter’s time determination can be predicated on “the time difference 
between transmitting and receiving a signal.” E.g., JX-0002 (’186 Patent), at 3:9-
10; see also id. at 6:53-57 (“this could e.g. be performed by measuring the time, 
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when the signal is transmitted … and measuring when the receiver … receives the 
signal”) (emphases added). Alternatively and more broadly, the specification 
discloses another preferred embodiment for which a transmitter can use “a time” 
between those events as the basis for its time determination. E.g. id. at 3:7-8 (“a 
time”), 4:47-48 (same). This, of course, is to be expected because it is well known 
in the computer arts that code implementers can make various design choices in 
the manner in which they write a transmitter’s instructions. E.g., Tr. (Mangione-
Smith) at 153:17-154:11, 236:22-25, 242:5-243:1. There is no lexicography nor 
manifest exclusion of any of such routine design choices in the plain and ordinary 
meaning of the claims. 
 

Id. at 26-27.  Philips contends that the ID erred in requiring that  

 

.  Id. at 28.  Philips further argues that 

the ID appeared to require that the timer must start with some unspecified, high degree of 

precision or repeatedly and such a requirement is clearly erroneous and should be reversed as 

evidenced by testimony from Respondents’ own experts.  Id. at 33-35.  Philips asserts that the 

Accused Transmitter Products , and thus fall within 

the claim limitation.  Id. at 35-36.   

The Transmitter Respondents also petitioned for review of the ID.  However, they 

requested that the Commission review and reverse the ID’s finding that the  

infringe the ’186 patent, and specifically, that element 1[e] is met.  TRPet. at 5-17.  The 

Transmitter Respondents argue that  

.  Id. at 8.  The Transmitter Respondents assert that Philips  

 

.  Id.  According to the Transmitter Respondents,  

.  Id.  The Transmitter Respondents argue that  

 

.  Id. at 8-9.  According to the 
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Transmitter Respondents, the ID erred by finding infringement  

 

 

.  Id. 

OUII petitioned for review of the ID arguing that the finding that the  

meet the “predetermined time” limitation should be reversed.  OPet. at 13-18.  OUII explains that 

the ID’s findings for these products are inconsistent with the findings for the other Accused 

Transmitter Products.  Id. at 14.  OUII asserts that the ID’s findings that  

 

.  Id.  However, OUII explains 

that, for  

 

.  Id. at 14-15.  OUII asserts that this finding warrants reversal.  Id. 

at 14-18. 

The Commission agrees with the parties that the ID’s findings and analysis for the 

Accused Transmitter Products and the  are not consistent.  In finding that the 

Accused Transmitter Products do not infringe, the ID considered  

 

 

 

.  See ID at 39-43.  Specifically, the ID stated that 

the  
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  Id. at 43.  Further, the ID noted that  

 

 

 

  Id.  

Thereby, the ID found no infringement of this claim limitation based on  

.   

However, with respect to the , the ID found that they meet this 

limitation even though the ID correctly noted that the  

 

  Id. at 45.  The 

ID concluded that for the  

.  Id.  The ID acknowledges that  

 

 

 

  Id. at 46.  This statement is in direct contrast to the ID’s findings for the Accused 

Transmitter Products, wherein the ID required a time measurement between the first and second 

signals.   

Having considered the parties’ arguments and the record, the Commission finds that 

neither the Accused Transmitter Products nor the  meet this claim element.  

Throughout the investigation, the ALJ made many findings that indicate that the claims require a 
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“time difference measurement.”  The Commission finds that the ALJ properly considered 

whether the Accused Transmitter Products made a “time difference measurement.” 

The term “predetermined time” was construed by the ALJ in his Markman Order as being 

“accorded its plain and ordinary meaning, with no required purpose or selected criteria,” and the 

ALJ explained “the correct construction [of the term ‘predetermined time’] removes any 

necessary relationship between determining time difference and determining distance, so to the 

extent that relationship is the basis of the parties’ dispute, according ‘predetermined time’ its 

plain and ordinary meaning resolves it.”  Markman Order at 23-34.  This discussion in the 

Markman Order was addressing the parties’ “selected to ensure” language in the proposed 

constructions for the claim term “predetermined time” and considered whether there is a “further 

requirement in the claim language that the time difference must be selected in any particular way 

or for any particular purpose.”  Id. at 22-23.  Other portions of the Markman Order also 

recognized that the claims require a time difference measurement.  For example, when the ALJ 

construed the phrase “means for providing the protected content to the requesting device after 

determining the second signal depends on a secret known to the content provider, and a time 

difference between the first time and the second time is less than a predetermined time” in claim 

17 of the ’809 patent (then at issue),13 the ALJ found that “the ‘determining’ function has two 

sub-functions, determining secrecy and determining time difference.”  Markman Order at 39.  

Also, with respect to the time-difference sub-function, the ALJ stated: “As I explained during the 

[Markman] hearing, there is surely much more to measuring time difference and comparing it to 

a predetermined [time] difference than what the specification apparently teaches.”  Id. at 41 

 
13 The ’809 patent was withdrawn by Philips, but it shares the same specification as the ’186 
patent and ’564 patent. 
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(citing Markman Tr. at 234-236).  Therefore, the ALJ, in the Markman Order, recognized that 

there is a “time difference measurement” disclosed in the specification and is required in 

elements reciting “predetermined time.”   

This finding is supported by the patent specification.  The focus of the specification is on 

distance measurement and discloses that the distance measurement can be accomplished by 

measuring the time between two signals.  The specification describes taking a time measurement 

between the first and second signals to determine the distance.  For example, it states, 

“determining the distance between the first and the second communication device according to a 

time difference between t1 and t2” and further discloses that the measurement is “the time 

difference between transmitting and receiving a signal. . .”  JX-2 at 2:62-3:12 (emphasis added).  

The specification also states that one embodiment includes a means for transmitting the first 

signal at time t1 and a means for receiving the second signal at t2 and determining the distance 

between the first and second communication devices based on the time difference between t1 and 

t2.  Id. at 4:38-48; see also e.g., id. at 6:54-60 (“In 323 the distance is calculated between the first 

and second device; this could e.g. be performed by measuring the time, when the signal is 

transmitted by the transmitter 309 from the first device to the second device and measuring when 

the receiver 317 receives the signal from the second device.  The time difference between 

transmittal time and receive time can then be used for determining the physical distance between 

the first device and the second device.”); 5:39-50 (“The first device 201 measures the round trip 

time between the signal leaving and the signal returning”); Tr. (Mangione-Smith) at 233:22-25 

(Philips expert admitting that “the claim language says that there’s an RTT [round-trip time] 

check between -- to determine whether the time between sending LC_Init and receiving L 

prime is less than a predetermined time.”) (emphasis added).   
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The ALJ continued to recognize that the claim required a time difference measurement 

even after he issued the Markman Order: 

 In Order No. 27, the ALJ stated: “Even in that case, though, the ‘timed’ 
element was simply a user code ‘valid for a predefined time,’ and not a time 
difference measurement (or ‘timed challenged-response’), as the present 
claims require.” Order No. 27 at 2 (emphases added). 

 
 In Order No. 28, the ALJ stated: “The independent claims require measuring a 

time difference between sending and receiving two signals that is ‘less than a 
predetermined time’, although the context varies slightly depending on the 
claim. E.g., 564 patent at cl. 1 (‘determine . . . time between the sending of the 
first signal and the receiving of the second signal is less than a predetermined 
time’); 186 patent at cl. 19 (‘when . . . time between the providing of the first 
signal and the receiving of the second signal is less than a predetermined 
time’).” Order No. 28 at 2 (emphasis added). Additionally, the ALJ also 
stated: “[T]he claims at issue do not ‘capture all potential uses of round-trip 
time’ . . . . They are instead narrowed by the requirement that there be both a 
time difference measurement and a comparison to a ‘predetermined time.’” 
Order No. 28 at  3 (emphasis added). 
 

Opet. at 15-16 n.12.  The added discussion in Order No. 28 regarding the time difference 

measurement and comparison does not conflict with the Markman Order construction.  The 

added explanation did not address whether the time difference determination is performed for 

any purpose only that a time difference determination is required and there is a comparison to a 

“predetermined time.”   

In applying the Markman Order construction to the Accused Transmitter Products, the ID 

applied its construction and in doing so, it required a time difference measurement between the 

first and second signals, as opposed to another time, and a comparison of that measurement to a 

predetermined time.  Such a requirement is set forth in the claim itself.  The claim terms 

“between” and “less than” are plain, everyday words.  These words, in the context of this claim 

phrase, give rise to a time measurement requirement (“time between the providing of the first 
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signal and the receiving of the second signal”) and a time comparison requirement (“time 

between . . . less than . . . predetermined time”).   

 In finding that Phillips had failed to show infringement under the doctrine of equivalents, 

the ID again recognized that the claims require a measurement, quoting and relying on testimony 

from Dr. Jeffay:  

 
 
 

 
 
 

. 
 

ID at 52 (quoting Tr. (Jeffay) at 635:22-638:7).  This analysis shows that, in crediting the 

testimony from Dr. Jeffay, the ID determined that measuring the time between the first and 

second signal was the appropriate function to be considered for infringement purposes.  Based on 

Philips’ own arguments, the ALJ’s consistent conclusions (except as to the ), 

and the specification, the Commission finds that the ID’s analysis for the Accused Transmitter 

Products is correct.14 

 Philips also argues that the ID erred by requiring the phrase “a time between” to mean 

“the time between” or the “entire time between” the first and second signals.  CPet. at 25.  While 

the claims recited “a time between,” a recitation of “the time between” could have raised an issue 

 
14 Moreover, during the course of this investigation, Philips argued that the relevant time 
difference was the time between the first and second signal.  For example, Philips argued that the 
Accused Transmitter Products satisfied this limitation because  

 
  Complainant’s Initial Post-Hearing Brief (“CIB”) at 80 (emphasis added); see also id. at 

84.  Although the Accused Transmitter Products  
, Philips relied on the time between the first and second signals to make its 

infringement case.   
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of whether the claims would be found indefinite because there was not an antecedent basis.  See 

e.g., Energizer Holdings v. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 435 F.3d 1366, 1370-71 (Fed. Cir. 2006) (“The 

requirement of antecedent basis is a rule of patent drafting, administered during patent 

examination.  The Manual of Patent Examining Procedure states that ‘[o]bviously, however, the 

failure to provide explicit antecedent basis for terms does not always render a claim indefinite.’  

MPEP § 2173.05(e) (8th ed. Rev.2, May, 2004.” . . . “[D]espite the absence of 

explicit antecedent basis, ‘[i]f the scope of a claim would be reasonably ascertainable by those 

skilled in the art, then the claim is not indefinite.’” (quoting Bose Corp. v. JBL, Inc., 274 F.3d 

1354, 1359 (Fed.Cir.2001))).  Accordingly, the applicant(s) used the term “a.”  When the claim 

term “a time between” is read in the context of the claim, the plain and ordinary meaning is “the 

time between the providing of the first signal and the receiving of the second signal.”  See 

OPetRB at 12.  It is clear that the claims do not cover any time difference but the time difference 

between the first and second signals. 

The specification also supports finding that the claims require “the” time between the 

first and second signal, contrary to Philips’ argument.  CPet. at 26.  In both disclosures of “a 

time” in the specification relied upon by Philips, the recitation of “a time” refers to “a time 

difference between t1 and t2” that is used for “determining the distance between the first and the 

second communication device.”  JX-2 at 3:6-8 (“determining the distance between the first and 

the second communication device according to a time difference between t1 and t2”) and 4:46-48 

(“means for determining the distance between the first and the second communication device 

according to a time difference between t1 and t2).  Thus, “a time” is not just any time difference 

that is used for determining any distance between communication devices but instead the time 

difference that is used for determining the distance between communication devices.  See id.; see 
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also, e.g., id. at Abstract (“The invention relates to a method for a first communication device to 

perform authenticated distance measurement between the first communication device and a 

second communication device, wherein the first and the second communication device share a 

common secret and the common secret is used for performing the distance measurement between 

the first and the second communication device.”); OReply at 14; see also RReply at 13-15 

(discussing in more detail the passages in the specification).  Accordingly, the Commission 

affirms the ID’s finding that the Accused Transmitter Products do not meet this claim limitation.  

The Commission adopts the discussion in the ID that is consistent with this opinion.    

In addition, the Commission finds that the  do not meet this claim 

limitation.  The claim language specifically requires “when . . . a time between the providing of 

the first signal and the receiving of the second signal is less than a predetermined time.”  

However, Philips relies on the requirement that there is  

.  See, e.g., CPet. at 16.   

 

 

.  See, e.g., RIB 

Respondents’ Initial Post-Hearing Brief (“RIB”) at 24; see Tr. (Jeffay) at 616:8-24, 618:12-22.  

Thereby,  

  Therefore, the Commission reverses the ID’s finding that the  
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2. Dependent Claims 9, 11, 12, and 14  

The ID found that because the Accused Transmitter Products do not literally infringe 

claim 1, they also do not literally infringe the dependent claims.  Id. at 49-51.  However, the ID 

found that the  infringe claims 9, 11, 12, and 14.  Id. 

The Commission affirms the ID’s determination that the Accused Transmitter Products 

do not infringe the accused dependent claims because they do not infringe claim 1.  ID at 49-51.  

The Commission finds that the  do not infringe claim 1, and hence do not 

infringe the asserted dependent claims.  

C. Technical Prong of Domestic Industry 

The ID found that the technical prong of the domestic industry has not been met.  ID at 

85-92.  The ID addressed each of the elements using the same annotations it used with respect to 

infringement.  The ID concluded that elements 1[pre]–1[d] of claim 1 are practiced by the DI 

Transmitter Products but elements 1[e]/[f] are not.  At this point, the disputed limitations are 

elements 1[c] and 1[e]/[f],15 claim 1, and these elements are discussed below.  The Commission 

affirms the ID’s findings for elements 1[pre] – [b], and [d] for the reasons discussed in the ID.  

As with infringement, the ID found that dependent claims 9, 11, 12, and 14 are not 

practiced because the DI Transmitter Products do not practice claim 1.  Id. at 92-94.  Because the 

Commission finds that claim 1 is not practiced by the DI Transmitter Products as discussed 

below, it also finds that the dependent claims are not practiced.  

 
15 While the ID addressed elements 1[e] and 1[f] separately for infringement, it combined its 
analysis of these elements for domestic industry.  We follow the ID’s approach for consistency.   
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1. Claim 1 

a. Claim 1 Element 1[c]: “provide the first signal to the second 
device when the second device certificate indicates that the 
second device is compliant with at least one compliance rule” 

i. The ID 

The ID noted that the parties disagreed as to whether the DI Transmitter Products practice 

this element.  Id. at 88.  The ID explained that “the disputes between the parties are the same 

with respect to both [the] infringement analysis and the domestic industry/technical prong 

analysis.”  Id. (quoting Staff’s Initial Post-Hearing Brief (“SIB”) at 68); see RIB at 105-06.  

Therefore, the ID did not repeat the analysis because it was substantially the same as that 

discussed earlier with respect to infringement.  ID at 88.  The ID stated that “[i]t suffices to note 

that Respondents do not expressly dispute Philips’ contention that ‘the Alleged Roku DI 

Products use DCP Public Key Certificates.’”  Id. (citing RIB at 106).  Therefore, the ID 

concluded that the DI Transmitter Products meet element 1[c] of claim 1 of the ’186 patent.  Id. 

ii. Analysis 

Consistent with its determination on infringement, the Commission has determined to 

reverse the ID’s findings regarding whether the DI Transmitter Products practice this limitation.  

The parties’ arguments for the DI Transmitter Products are the same as those presented for 

infringement and the parties most often refer to their infringement analysis for their domestic 

industry positions.  See e.g., RIB at 105-06; SIB at 68; OPet. at 4-12; Post-Trial Reply Brief of 

Respondents at 67, 15-29; CIB at 48-73.  For the same reasons as discussed above with respect 

to infringement,  

.   
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With respect to the MediaTek DI Transmitter Products, the ID also found that these 

products do not practice this element.  Id.  The ID explained that the  

.  Id.  Therefore, the 

DI Transmitter Products do not practice this claim element.  Id. 

ii. Analysis 

As with element 1[c], the parties present the same arguments for the Accused Transmitter 

Products and the DI Transmitter Products .  For example, 

Philips petitioned for review of the ID’s findings that the DI Transmitter Products do not practice 

claim 1 of the ’186 patent for the same reasons it argues that the Accused Transmitter Products 

infringe the asserted claims of the ’186 patent.  CPet. at 17-21, 25-40; see also id. at 90-94.   

 

, we incorporate our 

infringement analysis above.  As the ID noted, the  

 

 

.  ID at 91.  

 

.  Accordingly, the Commission affirms the ID’s findings for this 

limitation.    

III. U.S. PATENT NO. 10,298,564 – THE RECEIVER PATENT 

A. Claim Construction  

The ALJ construed the following terms of the ’564 patent in the Markman Order: 
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1[b] provide a certificate to the first device prior to receiving a first signal, 
wherein the first signal is sent by the first device, wherein the certificate is 
associated with the second device; 
 
1[c] receive the first signal when the certificate indicates that the second 
device is compliant with at least one compliance rule; 
 
1[d] create a second signal, wherein the second signal is derived from a secret 
known by the second device; 
 
1[e] provide the second signal to the first device after receiving the first signal, 
wherein the second signal is received by the first device; and 
 
1[f] receive the protected content from the first device when the first device 
determines that the second signal is derived from the secret and a time 
between the sending of the first signal and the receiving of the second signal 
is less than a predetermined time. 

 
Id. at 66-67.  Claims 18, 19, 21, and 25 are dependent and are reproduced below: 

18. The second device of claim 1, further comprising instructions arranged to 
receive the secret from the first device. 
 
19. The second device of claim 1, wherein the second signal comprises the first 
signal modified by the secret. 
 
21. The second device of claim 1, wherein the secret is encrypted with a public 
key. 
 
25. The second device of claim 1, wherein the secret is used for generating a 
secure channel between the first device and the second device. 
 

JX-3 at 8:19-23, 8:26-27, 8:35-37. 

1. Claim 1 

The ID found that elements 1[pre]-[e] were met but element 1[f] was not met for the 

Accused Receiver Products.  ID at 64-79.   The Commission affirms the ID’s determination for 

elements 1[pre], 1[d], and 1[e] for the reasons given by the ALJ.  The Commission takes no 

position on elements 1[a] and 1[b].  We discuss remaining elements 1[c] and 1[f] below.  
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a. Claim 1 Element 1[c]: “receive the first signal when the 
certificate indicates that the second device is compliant with at 
least one compliance rule”  

i. The ID 

The ID explained that, similar to the Accused Transmitter Products, “the Accused 

Receiver Products also practice this claim limitation because the processor circuit of each 

product includes instructions arranged to receive the first signal rn contained within the LC_Init 

message after the certificate, certrx, indicates that the receiver is compliant with at least one 

compliance rule, namely, that the certificate is signed by DCP, LLC.”  Id. at 75-76.  The ID 

identified  

.  Id. at 75.  The ID concluded that these functions satisfy the limitation 

and dismissed the same arguments that Respondents advanced for the ’186 patent that were also 

advanced for the ’564 patent.  Id. at 76.   

ii. Analysis 

The Receiver Respondents and OUII petitioned for review of this limitation, requesting 

that the Commission find that it is not met by the Accused Receiver Products.  RRPet at 9-16; 

OPet. at 4-12.  Philips contingently petitioned for review of this limitation.  CPet. at 90-94.  The 

Commission determined to review this element.  86 Fed. Reg. at 73316.  The Commission asked 

the parties to brief the following question, which was addressed above with respect to the ’186 

patent: 

(1) Please discuss whether the evidence establishes that the claimed “certificate” of the 
accused products and domestic industry products indicates that the second device is 
compliant with at least one compliance rule.  In your discussion, please address the 
specific compliance rule(s) at issue and specifically how the certificate indicates that 
the second device is compliant with the compliance rule(s).  Please address the 
evidence in the contexts of both the ’186 and ’564 patents. 
 

86 Fed. Reg. at 73316-17.    
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 For the reasons discussed in more detail above with respect to element 1[c] of the ’186 

patent, the Commission reverses the ID’s findings that this limitation is met.  Specifically, the 

certificate does not indicate whether the second device is in compliance with a compliance rule; 

the prosecution history of the related ’186 patent establishes that a signed “certificate” alone is 

insufficient to meet this claim element; and the  

 

 

.  See, e.g., Tr. (Jeffay) at 589:12-591:21, 592:20-593:5; RX-

1241C ( ) Q/A 36-37, 51-63; RX-1240C ( ) at Q/A 16, 18, 29-31.  Accordingly, 

the Commission reverses the ID’s determination that the Accused Receiver Products practice 

element 1[c] of the ’564 patent.     

b. Claim 1 Element 1[f]: “receive the protected content from the 
first device when the first device determines that the second 
signal is derived from the secret and a time between the 
sending of the first signal and the receiving of the second signal 
is less than a predetermined time” 

i. The ID 

The ID noted that “[t]his element corresponds to the first part of claim element 1[e] in the 

’186 patent, and there is no dispute that the Accused Receiver Products meet the first part of this 

element, ‘receive the protected content from the first device when the first device determines that 

the second signal is derived from the secret.’”  ID at 77-78 (explaining the evidence supporting 

this finding). 

Turning to the second part of this element, the ID noted that this limitation is in dispute 

and Philips relies essentially on the same evidence as it did for proving the first part of the 

element.  Id. at 78.  The ID explained: 
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Philips specifically alleges that each Accused Receiver Product “is arranged to 
receive an SKE_send_EKS signal, which indicates to the Receiver Product that 
the HDCP 2+ Locality Check has passed and both such conditions have been 
met.” CIB at 113 (citing Tr. (Mangione-Smith) at 274:9-17). Philips further 
argues that all of the Accused Receiver Products are “configured and adapted to 
compute [L’] and send it back to a first device within a predetermined time.” Tr. 
(Mangione-Smith) at 276:12-17. Thus, according to Philips, the Accused Receiver 
Products “are arranged to satisfy the conditions of the HDCP 2+ Locality Check 
when placed in communication with an HDCP 2+ transmitter.” CIB at 114. 
 
As Dr. Stubblebine explains, however,  

 
 

 Tr. (Stubblebine) at 915:23-916:18. It is undisputed that  
 

 
 

 
 See Tr. (Mangione-Smith) at 222:5-11, 251:24-254:3, 273:16-

274:17. But as noted  
 

 
. 

 
Id. at 78-79.  The ID further explained that the  

 

 

.  Id. at 79.  The ID found that  

 

.  Id.  Therefore, the ID concluded that  

 

  Id.  The ID further concluded that it 

is unrebutted that the Accused Receiver Products lack a processor circuit that executes 

instructions that are arranged to receive protected content only when the “predetermined time” 
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limitation is met.  Id.  Therefore, the ID determined that the Accused Receiver Products do not 

meet element 1[f] of the claims and do not infringe.  Id. 

ii. Analysis 

The Commission affirms, with modified reasoning as discussed herein, the ID’s finding 

that this limitation is not met by the Accused Products.  Both Philips and the Receiver 

Respondents petitioned for review of this claim limitation.  The Commission reviewed this issue 

and asked the parties to address the following questions on review: 

(3) Should “when,” as recited in the asserted claims, be interpreted to mean “when and 
only when”?  See Complainants’ Petition for Review at 23.  Did Complainants waive 
their argument that the accused products infringe if “when” is construed to mean 
“when and only when”?  Please address the intrinsic record in your response and any 
relevant Federal Circuit case law.   
 

(4) Discuss the capabilities of the accused receiver products (and the domestic industry 
products, if relevant) and whether they have instructions arranged to receive protected 
content only when the claimed conditions are satisfied (i.e., do the Accused Receiver 
Products receive protected content even if the predetermined time determination is 
not performed). 
 

(5) Please address whether the “predetermined time” limitations of the asserted claims 
are met if “predetermined time” is construed as “a time interval selected to ensure that 
the first and second communication devices are sufficiently near one another to 
permit access to the protected content.”  See, e.g., Receiver Respondents Petition for 
Review at 18.  Please address this question both for infringement and the technical 
prong of domestic industry. 

 
86 Fed. Reg. at 73316-17.   

As discussed above in detail for the ’186 patent, the Commission finds that the ID 

correctly determined that “a time between” of the claim elements should be interpreted to be “the 

time between” the first and second signal based on the context of the claim language and 

specification.   

.   
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For this limitation, the ID adopted Philips’ and OUII’s position that the first device is not 

a required structural element of the claims.  See ID at 57-61.  The ID stated that “construction of 

the 564 patent’s ‘first device’ elements should be that the functions to be executed [by the second 

device] using the claimed instructions are performed only upon satisfaction of the recited 

conditions,” and noting that “[t]his construction is what Philips proposes.”  Id. at 58-59 

(emphasis added).  The “conditions” impact when the “second device” is capable of receiving 

the content.  The “when” phrase of the claims seems to be a prerequisite to receiving the 

protected content, as the ID found.  Specifically, claim 1 requires that the second device have 

“instructions arranged to . . . receive the protected content from the first device when the first 

device determines [1] that the second signal is derived from the secret and [2] a time between the 

sending of the first signal and the receiving of the second signal is less than a predetermined 

time.”  JX-3 at cl. 1 (emphasis added).  As discussed above, the way in which the ID applied the 

term “when” meant that it is “when and only when” the conditions are satisfied.  The 

Commission asked the parties to address whether this was proper and whether there is 

infringement if Commission determines the ID’s application of the limitation is proper.  After 

considering the parties’ arguments, the Commission finds that the plain and ordinary meaning of 

the term “when” in the context of the ’564 patent is “when and only when.” 

 We note that while the ID construed “when” in the context of validity, it must also be 

applied consistently in analyzing infringement.  In light of the ID’s construction that claim 1 is 

directed only to the “second device,” which the Commission adopts, applying “when” as “when 

and only when” is reasonable as it is the only interpretation that gives effect to claim language 

that recites that certain conditions must be met.  The specification and claims support this 

finding.  As the ID found, “the specification . . . discloses the desirability of ‘ensur[ing] that 
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content will only be transmitted between devices if’ certain conditions are satisfied.”  ID at 133 

(quoting JX-3 at 2:4-5) (emphasis in ID).  As Respondents correctly explain:  

Importantly, the specification discloses that “only devices within a predefined 
distance . . . are allowed to receive the content,” “[w]hereas devices . . . having a 
distance . . . being larger than the predefined distance are not allowed to receive 
the content.” Id. at 5:7-12; ID at 133. In other words, when and only when the 
“predetermined time” limitation is satisfied is the second device permitted to 
receive protected content. The ’564 patent specification makes clear that 
determining “whether data stored on a first communication device are to be 
accessed by a second communication device …” by performing an authenticated 
distance measurement between the two devices using a shared secret is “the 
invention.” JX-3 at 4:1-11; see also id. at Abstract, 1:33-43, 2:40-42. In the 
context of claim 1, which the ID construes as reading entirely on a “second 
device,” the various “first device”-related limitations must at least be understood 
as requiring instructions in the “second device” that, when executed, will permit 
the “second device” to “receive the protected content from the first device” only 
“when the first device determines …” ID at 133. 
 

RCOB at 19. 

In addition, Philips’ construction would render much of the limitation meaningless.  

Specifically, the ID’s interpretation gives meaning to all parts of the claim language, while 

Philips’ construction reads out the conditions in this claim limitation.  As the Respondents argue, 

if the instructions of the “second device” received protected content regardless of whether the 

conditions are met, the claims are not “sometimes infringing” but rather are never infringing 

because the conditions can never be satisfied.  See RCRB at 12-13 (“If the instructions of the 

‘second device’ receive the protected content when the recited ‘first device’ makes the required 

determinations and also receive the protected content when the ‘first device’ does not make the 

required determinations, then there is no longer any ‘condition’ being placed on the 

functionality of the ‘second device.’ Such a ‘second device’ is never infringing, not ‘sometimes 

infringing,’ because it lacks the instructions and functionality required by the claim.”) (emphasis 

original).  Such a reading cannot be accurate.  Indeed, the “when” clause provides antecedent 
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basis for several of the dependent claims (e.g., claim 2-5, 12-17, and 25-28).  Accordingly, the 

Commission finds that “when” should be applied as “when and only when” in the context of 

claim 1 of the ’564 patent. 

Before the ALJ, Philips represented that it was not relying on the operation/actions of the 

Accused Transmitter Products to establish infringement of the Accused Receiver Products.  See 

OCOB at 27; RCOB at 25.  The Commission also asked the parties to address whether Philips 

waived any argument that the Accused Receiver Products infringe if “when” is construed to 

mean “when and only when.”  Therefore, to the extent that Philips now makes those arguments, 

and it does so in its briefing before the Commission, the Commission finds those arguments 

waived.  See, e.g., CCOB at 29-30; CPet. at 25. 

Finally, the Commission finds that the ID properly concluded that the Accused Receiver 

Products do not have instructions arranged to receive protected content when (1)  

; and (2)  

 

.  ID at 77-79. 

Philips’ arguments before the Commission seem to rely, at least in part, on the second 

device having instructions arranged to receive the protected content when a particular condition 

is satisfied, as the claims require, but asserts that “Complainants further showed that this 

condition is satisfied whenever the receiver is ‘placed in communication with an HDCP 2+ 

transmitter’ that performs the transmitter-side aspects of the HDCP 2+ protocol.”  CCRB at 18-

19.  In addition, Philips asserts that the SKE_send_EKS message is sent “when and only when 

the transmitter determines that the conditions claimed in claim 1 of the ’564 Patent are satisfied.”  
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Id.  These arguments appear to improperly rely on the actions of the “first device,” which is not a 

required claim element.  In addition, these new arguments have been waived.     

Philips admits that if the Commission adopts the “when and only when” construction and 

the “meaning ascribed to it by the ID is what it means,” then the Accused Receiver Products and 

Roku DI Receiver Products do not practice this claim element.  CCOB at 29-30.  Philips stated:  

[I]f the Commission adopts a “when and only when” claim construction and 
decides that the foregoing is what it means (i.e., the receiver products can never 
receive protected content from a transmitter that does not perform the 
predetermined time determination), the accused products and the domestic 
industry receiver products do not practice this claim element.  
 

CCOB at 30 (emphasis added).  Respondents’ experts, Dr. Stubblebine and Dr. Mitzenmacher, 

both testified that  

 

.  See Tr. (Stubblebine) at 903:15-904.25; Tr. (Mitzenmacher) 

at 765:3-16, 778:20-781:21.  The Accused Receiver Products  

 

.  Tr. (Stubblebine) at 914:7-916:18.   

 

.  Id.; see also Tr. (Stubblebine) at 912:19-914:6; Tr. (Mitzenmacher) 

at 765:3-16, 778:20-781:21 (  

 

 

 

  While Philips argues that 
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.  As discussed above, the evidence does not establish that this claim element is met.  

In addition, Philips argued before the ALJ that a person of ordinary skill in the art must be able 

to determine “whether a ‘second device,’ standing alone, is capable of satisfying claim 1 of the 

’564 Patent . . . by looking at the source code for the accused second devices.”  Rebuttal Post-

Hearing Brief of Complainants Koninklijke Philips N.V. and Philips North America LLC at 87-

88 (emphasis added)(addressing indefiniteness); see id. (“This is indeed what claim 1 of the ’564 

Patent instructs a POSITA to do, through its reference to the second device’s claimed 

‘instructions.’”).  Accordingly, the Commission finds that element 1[f] is not practiced by the 

Accused Receiver Products.  

2. Dependent Claims 18, 19, 21, and 25  

The ID found that because the Accused Receiver Products do not literally infringe claim 

1, they also do not literally infringe the dependent claims.  ID at 79-83.  Because the 

Commission finds that none of the Accused Receiver Products infringe independent claim 1, the 

Commission affirms the ID’s determination that the Accused Receiver Products do not infringe 

the asserted dependent claims. 

C. Technical Prong of the Domestic Industry Requirement 

The ID found that the technical prong of the domestic industry has not been met.  Id. at 

94-98.  The ID addressed each of the elements using the same annotations it used with respect to 

infringement.  The ID concluded that elements 1[pre]-1[e] are practiced by the DI Receiver 

Products but element 1[f] is not.  The disputed limitations are elements 1[c] and 1[f].  We affirm 

the ID’s determination for elements 1[pre], 1[d], and 1[e] without further discussion.  The 
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Commission takes no position on elements 1[a] and 1[b].  We discuss the remaining elements 

1[c] and 1[f] below. 

As with infringement, the ID found that dependent claims 18, 19, 21, and 25 are not 

practiced because the DI Receiver Products do not practice claim 1.  Id. at 98-100.  Because the 

Commission finds that claim 1 is not practiced by the DI Receiver Products, it also finds that the 

dependent claims are not practiced and affirms the ID in that regard.  

1. Claim 1 

a. ID 

The ID considered the evidence that Philips submitted to argue that the DI Receiver 

products practice all of the claim elements.  ID at 94-98.  The ID explained that Philips relied on 

Roku’s streaming players and Samsung’s televisions to meet the domestic industry requirements.  

Id. at 94.  The ID addressed elements 1[pre] through 1[e] and concluded that both the Roku and 

Samsung DI Receiver Products meet elements 1[pre] (id. at 94-95) and 1[a] (id. at 95).  The ID 

further found that the Roku products meet elements 1[b] (id. at 95-96), 1[c] (id. at 96), 1[d] (id. 

at 97), and 1[e] (id. at 97), but the Samsung products do not.  The ID, however, found that none 

of the DI Receiver Products meet element 1[f].  Id. at 97-98.  The ID’s analysis for these 

elements is similar to its infringement analysis, and for element 1[f], in particular, the ID 

incorporated its infringement analysis because the DI Receiver Products contain the same SoCs 

as the Accused Receiver Products.  Id. at 98. 

b. Analysis 

Philips petitioned for review of the ID’s finding that the Roku DI Receiver Products do 

not practice any of the asserted claims of the ’564 patent.  CPet. at 21-40.  The Receiver 

Respondents note that they do not challenge the ID’s findings on lack of domestic industry for 

the technical prong but provide three additional arguments for affirmance in their petition for 
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review.  RRPet. at 42-46.   

 

.  For example, Philips petitioned for review the ID’s findings that the DI Receiver 

Products do not practice claim 1 of the ’564 patent for the same reasons it argues that the 

Accused Receiver Products infringe the asserted claims of the ’546 patent.  See, e.g., CPet. at 21-

25.  OUII presented its petition arguments for the technical prong of domestic industry along 

with its arguments for infringement.  See OPet. at 4-12.  The Commission has considered the 

parties’ arguments and finds that elements 1[c] and 1[f] have not been met by the DI Receiver 

Products. 

i. Claim 1 Element 1[c]: “receive the first signal when the 
certificate indicates that the second device is compliant 
with at least one compliance rule”  

As the ID found, and no party challenges, the Roku DI Receiver Products use the same 

technology as the Accused Receiver Products.  ID at 96.  Therefore, for the reasons discussed 

above with respect to infringement for this limitation, the Commission finds that this element is 

not met by the Roku DI Receiver Products.  In addition, the Commission affirms the ID’s finding 

that the Samsung DI Receiver Products do not meet this claim element.  Id. 

ii. Claim 1 Element 1[f]: “receive the protected content 
from the first device when the first device determines 
that the second signal is derived from the secret and a 
time between the sending of the first signal and the 
receiving of the second signal is less than a 
predetermined time” 

Again, as the ID found, and no party challenges, the Roku DI Receiver Products use the 

same technology as the Accused Receiver Products.  ID at 97-98 (noting the products contain the 

same SoCs).  Therefore, for the reasons discussed above with respect to infringement for this 

limitation, the Commission finds that the Roku DI Receiver Products do not meet the element of 
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a “time between the sending of the first signal and the receiving of the second signal is less than 

a predetermined time.”  In addition, the Commission affirms the ID’s finding that the Samsung 

DI Receiver Products do not meet this claim element.  Id. 

IV. VALIDITY OF THE ’186 AND ’564 PATENTS 

The Commission affirms the ID’s findings under 35 U.S.C § 101.  See ID at 100-04.  The 

Commission takes no position on the ID’s determination on anticipation and obviousness under 

35 U.S.C. §§ 102 and 103, and on whether the written description requirement is met under 35 

U.S.C. § 112.  See id. at 104-124, 124-131.  With respect to whether the term “a time between” 

meets the written description requirement, see TRPet. at 35-37, the Commission finds that issue 

was waived because it was raised for the first time in the Transmitter Respondents’ petition for 

review.  See Hazani v. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 126 F.3d 1473, 1476-77 (Fed. Cir. 1997).  

The Commission affirms the ID’s findings that claim 1 of the ’564 patent is not 

indefinite.  ID at 131-136.  The ID considered the parties’ arguments and determined that the 

limitation is not indefinite in part based on the construction that the first device is not a required 

element of claim 1.  Id. at 131-133.  As discussed above with respect to claim element 1[f] of 

claim 1 of the ’564 patent, the ID found that “when” should be construed to mean “when and 

only when.”  Id. at 133.  The Commission adopts the ID’s findings on the construction of “when” 

only to the extent they are consistent with the Commission’s opinion and adopts the remaining 

findings regarding this issue.          

V. ECONOMIC PRONG OF DOMESTIC INDUSTRY 

The Commission takes no position on whether Philips has met the economic prong of the 

domestic industry requirement.16 

 
16 Chair Kearns would affirm the ID’s finding that Phillips had not established the existence of a 
domestic industry under section 337(a)(2).   He would adopt the ID’s analysis with respect to 
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VI. CONCLUSION 

For the forgoing reasons, Commission finds no violation of section 337 with respect to 

the asserted ’186 and ’564 patents. 

By order of the Commission. 

 

Lisa R. Barton 
Secretary to the Commission 

 
Issued:  April 26, 2022 

 

 
section 337(a)(2)(A) and (C).  With regard to section 337(a)(2)(B), he would adopt the ID’s 
discussion with one modest data revision that does not appreciably alter the analysis.  
Specifically, based on an allocation specific to Roku’s 2020 player sales and not its sales from 
2017-2020, he finds that Roku’s 2020 labor investments expenses that can be attributed to the DI 
products are  (at 150).  See RCOB at 51-52, 
OCOB at 32-33, 36 n.19.  




